
  

LAKE FOREST LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES  
360 East Deerpath Road, Lake Forest, IL 60045 

Tuesday, June 8, 2021, 7:30 p.m.  
Regular Meeting by Remote Access (Virtual) 

 
The Library Trustees will be remotely attending this regularly scheduled Board of Trustees 
meeting by electronic means, in compliance with Governor’s Executive Order 2020-07, 
issued on March 16, 2020, that suspended certain Open Meetings Act provisions relating 
to in-person attendance by members of a public body. Specifically, the Governor’s Order: 
(1) suspends the requirement in Section 2.01 that “members of a public body must be 
physically present:” and (2) suspends the limitations in Section 7 on when remote 
participation is allowed. This Executive Order is effective the duration of the 
Gubernatorial Disaster proclamation.  
 
The Library provides members of the public with an opportunity to participate in the 
meeting. Members of the public can participate remotely in the meeting via Microsoft 
Teams by clicking the following link: Join Microsoft Teams Meeting.  Or by calling: +1 872-
240-4516. Conference ID: 799 591 295#. 
 
Alternatively, members of the public may email comments to Catherine Lemmer, Library 
Director, at clemmer@lakeforestlibrary.org, before noon on the date of the meeting and 
the comments will be entered into the meeting minutes. The minutes of the meeting will 
be available on the Library’s website after they are approved at the next meeting of the 
Library Board of Trustees. Current and past meeting information is available at: 
www.lakeforestlibrary.org/board-meetings.  
 

Agenda 

1. Call Meeting to Order. 
2. President’s Remarks: 
3. This meeting of the Lake Forest Library Board is being held as a virtual meeting 

because the Illinois Governor has declared the COVID-19 pandemic a disaster and 
it is not practical or prudent for in-person meetings.  The Library Director is on-
site at the Library for this meeting and may be reached by calling 847.810.4602. 
This meeting is being recorded and the recording will be posted on the Library’s 
website. 

4. Board of Trustees Roll Call/Confirmation that can hear the discussion.  
5. Opportunity for the Public to Address the Board. 
6. Correspondence Report. 
7. Call for Additions to the Agenda. 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZjVhNDdiYjQtNzBhYy00NDkxLWI3MDYtNjc3MTJjNzc1YjZl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22b17a6d08-6648-4e7c-9a3c-44d94fab475a%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22290d6ef0-fcd7-4330-a96a-1209f23eeb27%22%7d
tel:+1%20872-240-4516,,615131856
tel:+1%20872-240-4516,,615131856
mailto:clemmer@lakeforestlibrary.org
http://www.lakeforestlibrary.org/board-meetings


  

8. Consent Agenda (omnibus vote on matters 8(a) - 8(c)) 
a. Approval of the Agenda  
b. Approval of the May 11, 2021 Meeting Minutes 
c. Approval of May 2021 Financial Report  

9. Discussion of resumption of in-person Board meetings and meeting time.  
10. Discussion and approval of RFID project proposal. 
11. Executive Session pursuant to Illinois Compiled Statutes, 5 ILCS 120/2(21), 

approval, discussion, and review of minutes of meetings lawfully closed under the 
Illinois Open Meetings Act.  

12. Approval of recommendation regarding the minutes of the Executive Sessions 
held on February 1, April 13, and May 4, 2021. 

13. Discussion of capital improvement project. 
14. Nominating Committee Report on Slate of Officers for 2021-2022 
15. Election of 2021-2022 Officers 
16. Library Director Report  
17. Incoming President’s Remarks 
18. Unfinished Business 
19. New Business 
20. Adjournment 

 
 

Upcoming Meeting: Regular Board Meeting, July 13, 2021 
 
Special meetings may be called at any time with proper notice pursuant to the Library’s bylaws. 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe 
and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meetings 
or the facilities are requested to contact the Library Director at 847.810.4602 promptly to allow the 
Library to make reasonable accommodations. 

  



  

PUBLIC COMMENT AT BOARD MEETINGS POLICY 

The Illinois Open Meetings Act provides in Section 2.06 that at meetings of public bodies, 
“any person shall be permitted an opportunity to address public officials under the rules 
established and recorded by the public body.” 5 ILCS 120/2.06(g).  
 
The Board of Trustees welcomes public participation. This policy provides the following 
rules and guidelines for public participation at its meetings. 
 
Individuals attending board meetings must conduct themselves with respect and civility 
toward others. Abusive, profane, threatening, or harassing language and/or personal 
attacks will not be permitted. The Board President or presiding officer may prohibit 
further comment at the meeting by a speaker whose remarks violate this rule.  
 
Public comments are permitted during the time designated on the Board of Trustees 
meeting agenda, unless otherwise directed by the Board President.  
 
The Board President determines the order in which speakers will be recognized.  
 
When recognized by the Board President, the speaker should begin by stating his or her 
name and address.  
 
Public comments will ordinarily be limited to three (3) minutes per speaker. The Board 
President shall have discretion to modify this time limit, as well as to limit repetitive 
comments. 
 
Members of the public will not be allowed to speak a second time until all members of 
the public who wish to speak have been allowed to do so. The Board President will 
determine whether second public comments will be permitted, and if so, the appropriate 
amount of time for public discussion, and will end public comment at his/her discretion.  
 
Board members are not obligated to respond to comments from the public. Issues 
requiring possible action by the board may be added to a future meeting agenda, and 
issues that can be addressed by library administration will be noted.  
 
A copy of these guidelines will be placed next to the sign-in sheet made available to 
members of the public at the entrance to board meetings. 
 
Petitions or written correspondence directed to the board shall be presented to the board 
by the Board President or Secretary at the next regularly scheduled board meeting.  
 



  

Minutes are a summary of the board’s discussion and actions. Speaker requests to append 
written statements or correspondence to the minutes are not favored. Generally, written 
materials presented to the board will be included in the library’s files rather than in the 
minutes. The Board President shall have the authority to determine procedural matters 
regarding public participation not otherwise defined in these guidelines.  
 
(Approved January 9, 2018.) 
 

 

































Agenda Item 6 

Correspondence Report 

The Library Board received a petition with the following resolution: 

‘We, the undersigned residents of Lake Forest, Illinois, request that the Lake Forest Library 
immediately begin repairs on the library dome and the water-damaged murals. 
Additionally, we request that any library expansion plan and choices made regarding 
possible American with Disabilities Act (ADA) changes to the library be put aside until this 
(dome/murals) necessary and important work is completed.’ 

Library Board Statement 

The Library Board finds both the wording and the apparent intent of the resolution inconsistent 
with the values of both the Library and the City of Lake Forest. It would be unthinkable that we 
have a Library that is foreclosed to some of our most vulnerable citizens. A central priority of the 
Library’s capital improvement project is to ensure equitable and unhindered access to the Library 
for all Lake Forest citizens. The Library Board intends to continue its pursuit of that priority, 
working with the City of Lake Forest and other constituencies, to restore, repair and expand the 
facility to create a Library to be used and loved by future generations of Lake Foresters. 

 



 
 

Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
360 E Deerpath Road, Lake Forest, IL 60045 
Regular Meeting (Remote Access) Minutes 

7:30 p.m. May 11, 2021 

  Page 1 of 4 

 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
President Wendy Darling called the meeting to order at 7:36 p.m. with the following statement: 

This meeting of the Lake Forest Library Board is being held as a virtual meeting because the Illinois 
Governor has declared the COVID-19 pandemic a disaster and it is not practical or prudent for in-
person meetings. The Library Director is on-site at the Library for this meeting and may be 
reached by calling 847.810.4602. This meeting is being recorded and the recording posted on the 
Library website.  

ROLL CALL/CONFIRMATION OF ABILITY TO HEAR PROCEEDINGS 
Trustees Present: Germaine Arnson, Bryan Bertola, Wendy Darling, JoAnn Desmond, Elizabeth 
Grob, John F. Johnson, Andrea Lemke, David Rose, and Carrie Travers.  All yeas. 9 trustees in 
attendance, a quorum is present. 
 
Staff Present: Catherine Lemmer, Library Director; Ed Finn, Director of Operations  
 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD AND CORRESPONDENCE 
All correspondence received was included in the Board packet and no one from the public wished 
to address the Board. 
 
CALL FOR ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA  
None 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Approval of the Agenda 
B. Approval of the April 13, 2021 Meeting Minutes 
C. Approval of May 4, 2021 Special Meeting Minutes 
D. Approval of April 2021 Finance Report 

 
Director Lemmer responded to a question from Trustee Johnson about expenditures that have 
not yet been billed as of the close of April.  Ms. Lemmer indicated that approximately $250,000 
in invoices should come in during the next few weeks that will be expensed to FY2021.  
 
Trustee Arnson made a motion, seconded by Trustee Travers, to approve the Consent Agenda as 
presented. Motion carried with 9 yeas on a roll call vote. 
 
 
 



 
 
Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting (Remote Access) Minutes 
MAY 11, 2021 
 
  

Page 2 of 4 
 

 

DISCUSSION OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

President Darling made the following statement related to recent changes in the capital 
improvement project: 

In the spirit of transparency, I wish to provide the Board with an important update regarding the 
architects working on the Library’s Capital Improvement Project (CIP). 
 
Victor Pechaty, head architect assigned to our project, has accepted a position with Gensler at 
their Boston office. Jane Dedering, senior designer on our project, is retiring but is continuing to 
help us finalize our work in progress. 
 
I would like to place on record the Board’s gratitude for their partnership over the past three 
years. Their work to date has created a foundation for restoring, upgrading, and expanding the 
Library. This includes the following:  a condition assessment survey, detailed analysis of the dome 
and its foundational pedestal, and treatment recommendations in the historic context of the 1931 
Edwin Hill Clark building-most notably restoring the front walkway and removing the wings, as 
part of the design work.  
 
The Board will continue to work on the Capital Improvement Project, focusing next on the results 
and feedback from the community survey. Further to the results of the survey, the Board will 
proceed to evaluate all available options, including next steps for the Capital Improvement 
Project, and the appointment of a new lead architect. We are working with the City of Lake Forest 
to move the project forward.  

President Darling also apprised the Board about a productive meeting she had on May 11, 2021 
with Mayor Pandaleon and City Manager Jason Wicha regarding project updates.  They discussed 
what the Board transition might mean for the project and she reiterated the Board’s work and 
readiness on the four options requested by the City. The Mayor requested some additional 
information regarding the floor plans to enable City Council to better understand proposed 
changes in square footage, associated costs, and the usage of each space.    

Also discussed at the meeting were the ways that the Library was engaging the community, 
including the telephone survey poll and a community resident survey to enable all residents to 
provide input.  The Mayor also suggested holding a large group event in the Library to discuss the 
project and get feedback.  

 



 
 
Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting (Remote Access) Minutes 
MAY 11, 2021 
 
  

Page 3 of 4 
 

TECHNOLOGY AND FACILITIES UPDATE 

HVAC, Fiber, Microsoft Teams Phone Transition, RFID  

Ed Finn provided updates on the facilities and technology infrastructure improvements.  He 
shared that the Needlepoint Bipolar ionization units were installed, and the air quality was tested 
on May 5 and will be retested again in 30 days to assess effectiveness.  Also, on May 5 the Fiber 
internet went live without issue.  

Mr. Finn also updated the Board on the Microsoft Teams Phone Transition and the status of the 
RFID solution interviews where Trustee Johnson is serving as Board representative.  Trustee 
Arnson acknowledged Ed Finn and his staff for all the work they have done this past year, despite 
Covid, to update, upgrade, and enhance the technology in the Library to better serve the 
community.   

Presentation and recommendation by Library Staff regarding resumption of donation 
collection in the Library parking lot by the Friends of the Library  

Ed Finn presented a Power Point presentation about a Plan for Resuming Donations for the 
Friends of the Library.  Topics presented included Container Location, Use and Ownership; City 
Traffic Safety Chair Recommendations; Parking Lot and Traffic Flow; Collection, Loose Materials 
and Quarantine; and Liability Waivers.   

Trustee Johnson made the motion, seconded by Trustee Darling, to endorse the 
recommendation by the Library staff regarding resumption of donation collection in the Library 
parking lot by the Friends of the Library and thanked Ed for working with the eight people from 
the Friends to come up with a solution. 9 yeas, Motion passed on a roll call vote. 

LIBRARY DIRECTOR REPORT 
 
Provided in the Board packet, Director Lemmer updated the Board on Library Services, 
Administration and Operations, Strategic Initiatives, Performance Measures, and April Program 
Highlights. She also shared that when the staff is looking at trends coming out the year end data, 
convenience, aspects of the renovation project, and the self-service are three that are most 
prevalent. People especially like the self-check and Ms. Lemmer credited Trustee Rose for making 
this service a priority. Although the month has been relatively quiet, Ms. Lemmer stated that they 
have been busy with tidying up capital improvement details, listening sessions, and working on 
the telephone poll that launched yesterday.  She credited the Library staff for going above and 
beyond as usual. 
 
 



 
 
Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
Regular Meeting (Remote Access) Minutes 
MAY 11, 2021 
 
  

Page 4 of 4 
 

In response to a Trustee question, Ms. Lemmer expanded on the important collaborative 
relationship between the Library and Lake Forest College, from welcoming students and staff to 
partnering on programs. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
Trustee Rose inquired about the Summer Reading Program and Director Lemmer indicated they 
were ready to go with in person and online programming.  She expects a busy summer with 
students checking out books and earning lots of prizes in the Reading Colors Your World program.   
 
NEW BUSINESS 
No new business.   
 
ADJOURNMENT  
Trustee Travers made a motion, seconded by Trustee Grob, to adjourn the meeting at 8:14 p.m. 
9 yeas, motion carried.   
 
 
Upcoming Meeting: Regular Board Meeting, June 8, 2021, 7:30 pm 
 
 
/s/ JoAnn Desmond, Secretary (signed electronically due to Covid-19 Pandemic) 
____________________________________________________ 
JoAnn Desmond, Secretary  
Minutes approved by the Board on June 8, 2021. 



Lake Forest Library
Year-to-Date Monthly Financial Report

May 2021
Unaudited Month 1

FY2022

 
Agenda Item  8(c) 

REVENUES
Current 
Month Year to Date Year to Date Annual Over/(Under) % of 
Actual Actual Budget Budget Variance Annual Budget

  
Unassigned Funds on Hand 5/1 $1,895,491 $1,895,491 $1,895,491 $1,895,491  

Tax Based (Levy, SSN, IMRF) $277,859 $277,859 $358,985 $4,307,816 ($81,126) 6.45%

Non Tax Based $13,581 $13,581 $4,083 $49,000 $9,498 27.72%

Library Generated $0 $0 $2,371 $28,450 ($2,371) 0.00%
Gifts $0 $0 $208 $2,500 ($208) 0.00%
TOTAL REVENUES $291,440 $291,440 $365,647 $4,387,766 ($74,207) 6.64%

TOTAL FUNDS ON HAND $2,186,932 $2,186,932 $2,261,139 $6,283,257 ($74,207)
 

 
EXPENDITURES
   
Salaries & Wages $83,864 $83,864 $139,270 $1,810,504 ($55,406) 4.63%
Fringes $23,718 $23,718 $39,012 $468,147 ($15,294) 5.07%
SSN $6,219 $6,219 $11,529 $138,351 ($5,310) 4.50%
IMRF $8,496 $8,496 $15,318 $183,812 ($6,822) 4.62%
Materials (print, AV, tech, online) $42,594 $42,594 $50,375 $604,500 ($7,781) 7.05%
Other Operating Expenses $21,959 $21,959 $59,421 $713,057 ($37,463) 3.08%
Building Maintenance $7,521 $7,521 $22,333 $268,000 ($14,812) 2.81%

    
Sub Total $194,371 $194,371 $337,258 $4,186,371 ($142,888) 4.64%
     
Capital $0 $0 $15,417 $185,000 ($15,417) 0.00%
    
   
TOTAL $194,371 $194,371 $352,675 $4,371,371 ($158,305) 4.45%
   

BALANCE $1,992,561 $1,908,464 $1,911,886
    

RESERVES
Capital Improvements $2,800,000
Technology Improvements $300,000
Capital Equipment $300,000

$3,400,000



1 
 

Agenda Item 8(c) 
Lake Forest Library 

Financial Variance Report   
For the Month of May 2021 (Month 1) FY2022 

 
May is the first month of the 2022 Fiscal Year.  
 
Funds on Hand: $1,895,491 (unrestricted/unaudited). 
 
General Operations - Revenues 
Property Tax: In May, the Library received $277,859 payments in property tax distributions which is 6.45% 
of the annual budget.  
 
Non-Tax-Based: In May, the Library received $13,581 in replacement of personal property tax payment.  
Overall non-tax-based income at 27.72% of FY budget. There was no reported Library income for May. 
 
Gifts: Gifts received in May will be reflected on the June report as May report prepared prior to recording 
of bank statement reconciliation.  
 
General Operations - Expenditures  
Salaries, wages:  $83,864 for salaries: 5% of FY budget; $23,718 for fringes: 5% of FY budget. $6,219 for SSN: 
5% of FY budget; $8,496 for IMRF: 5% of FY budget. Vacation and sick leave buy outs due to 
retirements/resignations reflected. 
 
Materials: Books, AV, and Electronic Services: $42,594: 7% of FY budget. Annual payments for periodical 
and database subscriptions paid.  

 
Other Operating Expenditures: $21,959: 3% of FY budget. Consortia fees, technology leases, equipment, 
services, software, and contractual fees reflected here.  
 
Building Maintenance: $7,521 3% of FY budget. Reflects cleaning service contract, service calls and repairs 
for HVAC, elevator, and other systems.  Annual liability and casualty insurance premiums will be paid in 
June.   
 
Capital: No capital expenses incurred.  

 
Reserves  
$1,895,491 - Operating cash reserve (fund balance-unassigned). The Library’s reserves are currently 
$3,400,000: capital equipment ($300,000), capital improvements ($2,800,000), and technology ($300,000). 
 
Year to Date FY2022: 4.45% of budget expenses; 6.64% budget revenues. 



Agenda Item 9 

Discussion of the Resumption of In-Person Board Meetings 

This June 9 meeting of the Lake Forest Library Board is being held as a virtual meeting because the Illinois 
Governor has declared the COVID-19 pandemic a disaster and it is not practical or prudent for in-person 
meetings.  The Governor reinstated executive orders to allow for virtual board meetings and other 
emergency measures through June 26. This means the Library Board may continue to meet virtually 
through June 26th: Executive Order 2021-11. Found here: https://coronavirus.illinois.gov/s/resources-
for-executive-orders. 

At this time, it is anticipated that Governor Pritzker will soon end the disaster proclamation. In addition, 
the City of Lake Forest governing bodies are beginning the return to in-person meetings based on the 
comfort level of the participants.  

The Library Board could begin to meet in person starting with its July 13 meeting.  In addition, as it is the 
start of the new year, Trustees could determine to change the meeting start time to an earlier start time. 
This is a discussion and decision item only, no vote need be taken. 

https://www2.illinois.gov/Pages/Executive-Orders/ExecutiveOrder2021-11.aspx
https://coronavirus.illinois.gov/s/resources-for-executive-orders
https://coronavirus.illinois.gov/s/resources-for-executive-orders


Agenda Item 10 

Discussion and approval of RFID project proposal 

Recommendation and Requested Board Action: Library staff recommend proceeding with the 
Bibliotheca leasing option and enlisting Library Works Backstage to tag the current collection, not to 
exceed the total project cost of $132,697 in FY 22. 

Background of the Project 
In January 2021, the Library released a Request for Proposals (RFP) regarding Radio Frequency 
Identification (RFID). This technology will allow the Library to make strides technologically and streamline 
operations. All vendors were invited to submit preliminary bids for the following: 

Equipment Description Number of Units/Devices 
Staff stations 6 

RFID conversion cart rental/month 2 
Wide RFID gate 1 

Children’s RFID gate 1 
Mobile Inventory Device 2 

Self-Checkout 5 
Note: Number of units is an estimate based the Library’s anticipated needs. Requesting the same 
information enabled vendors to submit comparable proposals. Actual equipment ordered may vary due 
to specific needs. Vendors were also asked to provide examples of additional equipment and services for 
implementation later. 

In February, the Library received five proposals. Of those, three were moved forward and asked to 
participate in virtual interviews. Interviews were conducted between April 26 and May 14. 

Interview Committee Members Vendors Interviewed 
John F. Johnson, Library Board Trustee 
Catherine Lemmer, Executive Director 
Ed Finn, Director of Operations 
Tori Sperzel, Head of Circulation 
Chris Wheeler, Facilities Manager 
Brian Bruns, Account Manager (OSG) 
Patrick McCalister, Engineer (OSG) 

 
 

Bibliotheca 
Envisionware 

TechLogic 

 
Vendor cost comparisons 

Vendor Equipment 
Costs 

Tagging 
Services* 

Reserve** Year One 
Cost 

Yearly Licensing 
and Maintenance 

Overall 
Cost 
(6YR)*** 

Bibliotheca $88,723 $60,220 $37,236 $186,179 $11,381 $56,905 
Envisionware $65,507 $60,220 $31,432 $157,159 $8,181 $40,904 
TechLogic $119,713 $49,400 $42,278 $211,391 $9,738 $48,692 

*Note: Bibliotheca and Envisionware use Library Works Backstage as the provider for tagging. Cost savings 
are achieved by contracting directly with Backstage. TechLogic does their own in-house tagging. 
**A reserve of 25 percent is built in for any additional unanticipated costs related to infrastructure. 
***First year of maintenance is included in base price. Calculations are at 5 years additional maintenance. 



Committee Evaluations 
Each member of the committee completed a 100-point scorecard on each vendor, based solely on a 
purchase option. The results are summarized below (with 600 points being the highest possible score): 

Vendor Total Score Average 
Bibliotheca 527 88 
Envisionware 474 79 
TechLogic 452 75 

 
Leasing Option 
Bibliotheca also suggested a Software as a Service (SAAS) option during the interview process and was 
invited to submit this option for consideration. Bibliotheca’s Lease Option is summarized below: 

Term Equipment Lease/Services Tagging Services Reserve Cost Per Year 
Year 1 $29,111 $60,220 $37,236 $126,576 
Year 2 $29,111 NA NA $29,111 
Year 3 $29,111 NA NA $29,111 
Year 4 $29,111 NA NA $29,111 
Year 5 $29,111 NA NA $29,111 
Year 6 $29,111 NA NA $29,111 
Total $174,666 $60,220 $37,236 $272,122 
Cost of Purchase Option    $243,084 
Difference    $29,038 

 
Staff Recommendation 
Library staff recommends moving forward with Bibliotheca to implement an RFID solution, pending final 
negotiations, for the following reasons: 

• Hosted software that runs in a web browser. No on-premises server required. 
• All-inclusive technology provider. The Library would not have different vendors for different 

devices. 
• 10 CCS libraries use Bibliotheca as their RFID provider. 
• References include other libraries in the CCS consortium. 
• Reference recommended that the provider listens and reacts to specific needs of the institution. 
• Ability to grow and add services as the pace of the Library, matching needs. 
• Extensive history in this area and the largest provider. 
• OSG has experience and relationships regarding implementation and ongoing maintenance. 

Library staff also recommends contracting separately with Library Works Backstage to do the initial 
tagging of the collection for the following reasons: 

• Backstage has many years of experience working with libraries to tag their collection.  
• They are the preferred provider for Bibliotheca. 
• Backstage hires locally, manages, and assumes liability for the project. 
• Estimates of employee labor costs range between $24,000-$26,000 over a timeframe between 5-

6 months.  
• Backstage can complete the work in an estimated 5–6-week timeframe, providing substantial 

cost/benefit. 
The following page contains some images of the various equipment regarding RFID. 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Security Gates 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Self-Check Kiosk 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Inventory Wand 

 

 



Agenda Item 13 & 14 

Report of Nominating Committee and Election of Officers 

The Nominating Committee, consisting of Trustees Darling, Rose, and Travers, submit the following slate 
of officers to serve for 2021 – 2022. 

President – John F. Johnson 

Vice President – Bryan Bertola 

Secretary – Elizabeth Grob 

Treasurer – Andrea Lemke 

Following any discussion, a motion, seconded, with a roll call vote will elect the officers for FY2022. 

 

 



   
 

June 2021 Library Director Report   1 
 

Agenda Item 16     

Library Director Report 

June 8, 2021 
 
Services  
The Library restored its operating hours to pre-COVID levels. Services are being provided within 
the guidelines of the CDC and Illinois Department of Health guidelines regarding mask wearing 
and social distancing. The Library is requiring all individuals using the Children’s Library to wear 
masks to protect the most vulnerable of our population and because children under 12 who are 
not eligible for vaccinations are in this area of the Library.  
 
The longer hours of operation and increased capacity has enabled a partial restoration of the 
foyer to its original function – an entryway into the Library. We are hopeful that at some point to 
move the processed holds out of the foyer. This will require finding space on the first floor to 
which to relocate this service.  
 
As we prepare year-end reports for FY2021, the dedication and creativity of the Library staff to 
research, develop, and adapt solutions time and time again as the COVID landscape shifted, 
reflects our critical belief in the important lifeline the library provides to the Lake Forest 
community. The physical building was closed for 5 weeks in FY2021, during which time the Library 
pivoted to deliver all services and programs virtually. From June 2020 through June 2021, the 
level of access to the building for the public may have increased and decreased depending on the 
state of COVID, but our commitment to deliver the highest level of library services to the 
community never wavered.  
 
The popularity of the beta self-check option continues, 527 items (or 5% of adult materials) were 
checked out via self-check in May.  Programs through August are planned as virtual with a few 
children’s programs planned for the front lawn. 
 
The chart below summarizes how patrons used the Library during the last months of FY2021 - 
February (12 days), March, April, and May. This information was gathered by a greeter at the 
front door. The new increased capacity limits allowed us to discontinue the greeter on June 1. 
The ready to go holds pick-up and online card applications will be maintained after June 1 due 
their popularity. 
 

 Total 
Holds 
pickup 

 
Browse 

Children’s 
Library 

Computer/
Scan 

Newspaper/ 
Magazine 

Library 
Card 

1-hour 

use 

Feb 1,374 538 221 249 36 14 27 52 

Mar 2,401 642 437 439 47 34 35 49 

Apr 3,359 750 696 607 181 60 55 170 

May 3,431 668 805 685 224 85 39 66 

 
 



   
 

June 2021 Library Director Report   2 
 

Gifts to the Library 

• The Library received a gift in memory of Dick Lewis from the WOW Book Club to purchase 
books related to his interests. The Library also received a gift from the friends and family 
of Steve Kennedy to purchase books related to his interests.  

• These materials are processed into the collection with a book plaque on the inside cover 
acknowledging the gift and the honoree. The FY2021 donor and grantor list is attached. 

  
Administration and Operations  

• New trustees, Jim Clifton, Sue Shattock, and Heather Strong have been provided with 
initial new trustee materials and will receive a full orientation after June 14. 

• The Hartford Insurance Workers Compensation Insurance Year-end Audit has been 
completed. The CBIZ Appraisal and City Asset Report have also been completed. 

• We are excited to announce that an offer of employment was made and accepted by 
Sameer Notta to be the Library’s first Finance Officer. Sameer will be starting on June 21, 
2021, and brings much needed finance, forecasting, and analytical skills. 

• Carla Wier, part-time children’s library assistant, retired from the Children’s Library after 
26 years. She will be missed dearly! Two open part-time children’s library assistant 
positions have been filled. Madeline Wenc and Tiffany Song joined the Children’s Library 
team the first week of June. The Children’s Library has one additional part-time position 
open.  

• Annual tree and shrub trimming has been scheduled. The Facilities team continues to 
refresh paint and complete other small interior projects to keep the building as tidy as 
possible. 

• Patrons now have the option to pick one of our new library card designs. The designs were 
created by our Communications Team and voted on by community residents. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 



   
 

June 2021 Library Director Report   3 
 

Strategic Initiatives  
Burges & Burges is working on the community resident survey with the goal to release the survey 
in June. 
 
The Children’s Library staff has committed to a yearlong educational and enrichment challenge - 
Project READY: Equity and Access for Diverse Youth.  Project Ready is an online professional 
development course that addresses the gap in existing professional development opportunities 
for youth services library staff in areas such as race and racism, racial equity, and culturally 
responsive or sustaining pedagogy. The primary focus of Project READY curriculum is on 
improving relationships with, services to, and resources for youth of color and Native youth. 
 
Selected Performance Measures through April 2021 
As the Library did not circulate physical items in April 2020, comparisons made to April 2019 help 

understand the Library’s operational recovery as we move out of COVID. In April 2021, 23,915 

items circulated as compared to 27,625 items in April 2019, representing a 13% decrease against 

pre-COVID operations. 

The use of e-Media resources reflects a 20% decrease in usage from April 2020, 4,973 circulations 

versus 6,287 last year in the month of April. However, there is an overall 37% increase over pre-

COVID April 2019. Perhaps more interesting is that in April 2019, 11% of circulations were e-

Media, as compared to 21% in April 2021. It is expected that e-media usage will continue to 

outpace pre-COVID usage in the coming months and even show month-to-month increases 

against FY2021 after the dramatic monthly increases of the early COVID pandemic are past. 

The e-magazine collection is now available in OverDrive (Libby) as RB Digital phases out in the 

coming months. The Library continues to purchase “advantage” titles (i.e., those titles available 

only to Lake Forest Library cardholders to shorten hold lists for Lake Forest residents).  

Use of the DVD2GO media bank in the West Train Station continues to decline. 10 movies were 

borrowed from the DVD2GO in April. The machine is aging and loses several days a month due 

to software and other issues. Replacement is part of a larger conversation regarding services on 

the west side of Lake Forest. The chart below details the annual usage numbers from April 2011 

through April 2021:  

Year FY11  FY12    FY13  FY14  FY15 FY16  FY17  FY18  FY19 FY20   FY21 

Uses 399 5678 5253 5323 4216 3490 3054 2721 2697 1747 538 

 

In April, the use of the Library’s database collection was down as compared to last year for the 

same period, reporting 7,759 uses as compared to 9,929 uses. The decrease is attributed to the 

migration to fiber internet as it took some of the more highly used databases offline for a few 

weeks as we worked with vendors to transfer proxy servers and remote IPs to fiber. The Library 

continues to evaluate database renewals and is discontinuing or replacing those databases that 



   
 

June 2021 Library Director Report   4 
 

are no longer being used by the public. Education efforts (as part of programming) and social 

media posts on how to use the databases continue.  

In April, Reference and Reader’s Advisory assists from all the departments totaled 1,653. Services 

are delivered via chat, email, in person, and through social media platforms. Homebound and 

outreach activities are on-going. 

All Library programs remain virtual, and there is continued enthusiasm for evening and Saturday 

morning programs. There is tremendous variety in the programs, from online science projects, 

Storytimes, and coding clubs to book clubs, history lectures, and author interviews on critical and 

important topics. The Children’s Library and YA department prepare and give out Grab&Go kits 

that support participation in virtual programs.  

As indicated by the chart below, attendance and viewing of the Library’s programs remain strong. 

Funding for FY2021 programming was funded in part by the Friends of Lake Forest Library and 

The Dick Family Foundation.  

 
May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

 
Apr 

Programs 

 

45 

 

46 

 

39 

 

35 

 

46 
 

54 
 

44 
 

45 72 53 88 
 

77 

View, 

Attendees 5449 5163 7137 

 

3153 1836 2002 
 

1620 
 

3950 2751 3389 2532 
 

2729 

 

Program Snapshots 

• Summer Reading programs for adults, children, and teens launched June 1. The theme 
this year is “Reading Colors Your World.”  

• Lorie Rohrer, Head of the Children’s Library, did two in-person Storytimes for First 
Presbyterian Preschool.  

• Sheridan School plans to use the Library’s Summer Reading Program as its summer 
reading program.  

• The Country Day School and St. Mary’s have requested a StoryWalk option at their 
schools. 

• Teen Librarian, Emmy Neal, reports the Library had a wildly successful run of Star Wars 
programming for all ages to celebrate "May the Fourth," the official Star Wars holiday, 
including crafts, trivia, and a Star Wars Dungeons & Dragons adventure. The highly 
competitive trivia event pitted families head-to-head for a limited-edition Baby Yoda 
squishmallow, while "Hidden Star Wars" gave fans an inside look at what made the 
movies a global sensation.  

• High school students registered and picked up their Exam Escape De-Stress Kits in 
preparation for Spring Finals. The kits included study supplies like highlighters and post 
its, self-care items such as face masks, and snacks. We look forward to welcoming our 
students in person during fall finals.  

• The Teen Book Club was Dear Martin, a title that engages with both social justice and 
critical race theory, allowing teens to discuss the difference between racism and 



   
 

June 2021 Library Director Report   5 
 

prejudice, internal and external power structures, peer pressure, cultural competencies, 
and a fun love triangle plotline. The teens took turns guiding the discussion questions and 
expanding their initial thoughts into literary analysis. 

• Business Minutes, created by Michelle Doshi, Business Librarian, on iCash and Find 
Foundations and Learn About Grant Recipients are becoming a regular feature; they are 
available on the Library’s YouTube Channel along with other Library programming.  

 
 
 

  
   

 



 
  

As of April 30, 2021 

Donor List FY 2021 (May 1, 2020 – April 30, 2021) 

$50,000 or more 
Friends of Lake Forest Library program grant      $74,000 

 
Up to $50,000 
Reed Family Foundation, Inc., Peter S. Reed, grantee     $10,000 
Reed Family Foundation, Inc., Helen S. Reed, grantee     $10,000 
Reed Family Foundation, Inc., L. Keith Reed, grantee     $1,000 
Reed Family Foundation, Inc., Leslie V. and John S. Reed, Jr., grantee   $600 
The Buchanan Family Foundation        $10,000 
The Dick Family Foundation         $3,000 
 
Up to $2500 
Family and Friends, in memory of Steve Kennedy     $1,500 
Lake Forest Book Review         $1,000 
 
Up to $500 
Benjamin Bartram         $200  
Deanna & Todd Frank, in memory of Bernadine Rose Cascarano    $50 
Kaye & Theodore Grabbe, in memory of Joseph Alaimo     $100 
Kaye & Theodore Grabbe, in memory of Nancy Sergel     $200 
Mary F. Grumhaus and David D. Grumhaus Fund      $200 
Meredith & James Hayes, in memory of Anthony & Bernadine Cascarano  $250 
Veda Kaufman Levin         $25 
Barbara B. Reidy         $75 
WOW Book Club, in memory of Dick Lewis      $140 
 
Other  
Margaret Tomaselli, Fra Noi subscription 
 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  


	00 agenda June 2021
	01 Agenda Item 6 Correspondence Report
	02 Agenda Item 6 Receipt of Petition Statement (correspondence)
	03 Agenda Item 8(b) May 11 Regular Meeting Minutes
	04 Agenda Item 8(c) May Financial report
	Year to Date 

	04A Agenda Item 8(c) May 2021 Finance Notes 
	05 Agenda Item 9 Resumption of in person meetings
	06 Agenda Item 10 Discussion and approval of RFID project proposal
	07 Agenda Item 14 and 15 Nominating Committee Report
	08 Agenda Item 16 Director Report June 8 2021 
	08A Agenda Item 16 Donor List FY 2021

